ALASKA STATE LEGQ SLATURE
SENATE RESOURCES STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 16, 2008
11: 13 a. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Charlie Huggins, Chair

Senat or Lyda G een

Senator Gary Stevens

Senator Bill Welechowski (via tel econference)
Senat or Thonmas WAgoner

Senator Lesil MGQuire

MEMBERS ABSENT
Senator Bert Stedman, Vice Chair
COW TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BILL NO 229
"An Act relating to the Tanana Valley State Forest and to
assignment of certain forest land to the Mnto Flats State Gane
Ref uge; and providing for an effective date.”

MOVED SB 229 OQUT OF COW TTEE

SENATE BILL NO 237
"An Act relating to the policy for managenent of sustainable
sal non fisheries."

HEARD AND HELD

SENATE BILL NO 253
"An Act relating to the appointnment of nenbers of the Board of
Gane; and providing for an effective date."

SCHEDULED BUT NOT HEARD

PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 229

SHORT TI TLE. TANANA VALLEY FOREST/ M NTO FLATS REFUGE
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) THOVAS

01/ 16/ 08 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 16/ 08 (S) RES, FIN
02/ 16/ 08 (S) RES AT 11: 00 AM BUTROVI CH 205

BILL: SB 237

SENATE RES COW TTEE -1- February 16, 2008



SHORT TI TLE: MGMT OF SUSTAI NABLE SALMON FI SHERI ES
SPONSOR(s): RESOURCES

01/ 18/ 08 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 18/ 08 (S) RES, FIN
02/ 16/ 08 (S) RES AT 11: 00 AM BUTROVI CH 205

W TNESS REG STER

SENATOR JOE THOVAS

Al aska State Legislature

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Sponsor of SB 229.

MARTHA VWELBOURN FREEMAN, Forest Resources Program Manager
Di vision of Forestry

Depart ment of Natural Resources

Anchor age, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Expl ai ned | ands affected by SB 229.

CHRIS MAI SCH, Director and State Forester

Di vision of Forestry

Department of Natural Resources

Fai r banks, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 229.

DAVI D JAMES, Interior Regional Supervisor
D vision of WIldlife Conservation

Al aska Departnment of Fish & Gane

Fai r banks, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on SB 229.

JODY SI MPSQN, Staff to Senator Charlie Huggins

Al aska State Legislature

State Capitol

Juneau, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Expl ained SB 237 on behalf of the Senate
Resources Standing Comm ttee, sponsor.

LARRY EDFELT, Menber

Al aska Board of Fisheries

Juneau, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Conveyed the board's opposition to SB 237.

TONY RUSS
Wasilla, AK

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 2- February 16, 2008



POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

Rl CKY GEASE, Executive Director

Kenai River Sport Fishing Association

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on SB 237 in support of
policies in regul ation.

BRUCE KNOWALES
POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

ROD ARNO, Executive Director
Al aska Qut door Counci l
POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

VI RA L UMPHENOUR, Chairman

Fai r banks Fi sh and Gane Advisory Conmittee

North Pol e, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237 and gave sone history.

M KE TI NKER

Fai rbanks Fi sh and Gane Advisory Conmittee
Ester, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

HAL HUVE

Fai rbanks Fi sh and Ganme Advisory Conmittee
Fai r banks, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

DR. JOHN WH TE
Bet hel , AK
POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

REUBEN HANKE
Kenai River Sport Fishing Association
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

LANCE NELSON, Senior Assistant Attorney Ceneral
Nat ural Resources Section

Cvil Division (Anchorage)

Depart nent of Law

Anchor age, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Qpposed SB 237.

Bl LL LARRY
Fai rbanks Fi sh and Gane Advisory Conmittee
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 3- February 16, 2008



BYRON HALEY, President

Chitina D pnetters Association
Fai r banks, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supported SB 237.

JERRY M:CUNE
Uni ted Fi shernen of Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Opposed SB 237.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CHAIR CHARLIE HUGGA NS called the Senate Resources Standing
Committee neeting to order at 11:13:51 AM Present at the cal
to order were Senators Geen, Stevens, Welechowski (via
tel econference), Wgoner, and Chair Huggins. Senator MQ@iire
j oined the neeting in progress.

SB 229- TANANA VALLEY FOREST/ M NTO FLATS REFUGE

11:14: 44 AM
CHAI R HUGGE NS announced SB 229 to be up for consideration

SENATOR JOE THOMAS, Al aska State Legislature, sponsor of SB 229,
characterized the bill as sinple and noncontroversial. He said
it amends the Tanana Valley State Forest (TVSF) boundaries to
correct errors in legal descriptions, update the |and status,
and better match the managenent intent. The bill adds and
del etes boundary references to statutory |egal descriptions. It
i ncreases the state forest by about 40,000 acres and noves about
4,300 acres fromthe TVSF to the Mnto Flats State Gane Refuge.

SENATOR THOVAS explained that in 1983 the |egislature created
the 1.8 mllion-acre TVSF, which stretches from Manley to Tok
and is open to mning, gravel extraction, oil and gas |easing

and grazing. The Departnment of Natural Resources (DNR) nmanages
the TVSF for a sustainable yield of these resources, with the
primary purpose of tinber managenent. The Bonanza Creek
Experi ment al For est, 12,400 acres dedicated to forestry
research, is located within the state forest.

SENATOR THOVAS said state forests provide fish and wldlife
habitat, clean water, opportunities for recreation and tourism
and mnerals. In addition to managi ng these resources, the TVSF
offers recreational opportunities including hunting, fishing,
trappi ng, canping, hiking, dog nushing, cross-country skiing,

SENATE RES COW TTEE -4- February 16, 2008



wildlife viewing, snow machining, gold panning, boating, and
berry picking.

SENATOR THOVAS reported in 1996 the division updated the TVSF
managenent plan and established a 12-nmenber citizens' advisory
comm ttee. Representing a variety of state forest users, this
commttee actively participates in forest planning in the Tanana
Basin; it has endorsed the reconmmendati ons on managenent of the
forest and has carefully crafted the changes in a manner that
resulted in support fromall affected | and users and owners.

SENATOR THOVAS i ndi cated SB 229 is supported by the Al aska State
Forest Association, the Board of Forestry, the Yukon River
chapter of the Society of Anerican Foresters, the Fairbanks
Econom ¢ Devel opnent Corporation, hunting and recreation groups,
and all surrounding |land owners. He asked that |egislators join
in helping to better align the state forest with its origina
i ntent by passing SB 299.

CHAIR HUGGA NS asked to be shown the deletions and additions on
t he map.

11: 17: 44 AM

MARTHA WELBOURN FREEMAN, Forest Resources Program Manager
Division of Forestry, Departnment of Natural Resources, indicated
four parcels recomended for deletion in the northern part of
the forest. She specified that the three shown in brown are
wet | and areas on the boundary between the Mnto Flats State Gane
Refuge and the TVSF, simlar to land in the refuge and not
commercial forest land, those would be added to and managed by
t he refuge. The fourth, a sliver shown in yellow along the
Chatanika River, is intensely used for public recreation, has
many private in-holdings, and isn't a good candidate for
commercial forestry enterprises.

CHAIR HUGE NS asked whether there are any changes in the |and
status or nultiple uses such as hunting, fishing, or trapping.

M5. FREEMAN replied the parcels to be transferred to the refuge

woul dn't likely be managed for commercial forestry, but they
don't have such potential anyway. The refuge simlarly is open
to multiple uses such as hunting, recreation, and so on. The

Chat ani ka River parcel would be nmanaged as state public-domain
| and, contiguous with portions on either side of it. Like other
state lands around it, this parcel would be managed subject to
t he Tanana Basin Area Pl an.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 5- February 16, 2008



11:19: 35 AM
SENATOR STEVENS asked how far the parcel shown in yellow is from
Fai r banks and where Bonanza Creek is.

M5. FREEMAN showed those on the map, noting the Bonanza Creek

area is Unit 5B, southwest of Fairbanks. She turned to areas
proposed for addition to the TVSF, noting one contains siX
sections of land between the refuge and the state forest. It is
upland forest  habitat, she said, productive forest wth

commercial potential that currently is public domain |[and.
Al so, there are two blocks of |and adjacent to the area of the
Nenana Ri dge, near Bonanza Creek. This is sone of the nost
actively managed land in the state forest, for comrercial forest
harvesting, forest research, and hunting and other recreation.
There are parcels proposed for addition to that area.

M5. FREEMAN explained that sone of the larger blocks wll
transfer to the university in 2055 as part of the university
| and settlenent, becomng part of the University of Al aska
denonstration and experinental forest. She indicated DNR has
briefed the university, which supports having that land in the
state forest until the transfer. The bill won't affect the
settlement, and the land will transfer as envisioned previously.

11: 21: 21 AM
SENATOR McGUI RE arri ved.

M5. FREEMAN, in response to Senator Stevens, said about 6,000

acres not currently in the state forest will be added. About
40,000 acres already in the state forest will be transferred to
the university as discussed. Turning to an area near Delta

Junction, she highlighted parcels south of the Tanana River and
adj acent to existing forest on the north side. She said these
are wupland forests, not floodplain sites, and are good,
productive conmercial forest |ands proposed for addition. There
is active harvesting for local mlls in this area.

M5. FREEMAN noted the southeastern part of the forest has four
parcels, shown in yellow, proposed for deletion. The three
sout hernnost are wetland areas, not good commercial forest |and.
The fourth, the nobst northern, DNR considers a drafting error
from 1983 - the easternnost township has high elevation and
| acks productive forest land that the western township has. So
the intention is to flip those, to correct that error.

M5. FREEMAN drew attention to several snaller parcels proposed
for addition in the area from Tok to Tanacross. She said these

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 6- February 16, 2008



are nostly upland forest, typically isolated in between Native
ownership and state ownership. They' Il be added to the state
forest both for their forest potential and to consolidate
managenent of state land in that area.

11: 23: 09 AM
M5. FREEMAN turned to the Tok area, saying a fairly large block
of land there has commercial forest potential. This is fairly

accessi ble upland forest, and there is demand for |ocal forest
products in that area. Thus DNR is asking that to be added to
mat ch the purposes of the state forest.

CHAIR HUGGE NS asked where the l|and being deleted, shown in
yellow, will go and who controls it.

M5. FREEMAN answered it would be managed by DNR as public-domain
land. This whole area is subject to the Tanana Basin Area Pl an,
and these |ands would be managed consistent with parcels around
them Typically, they'd be managed for a conbination of habitat
and wildlife recreation. They tend to be fairly renote, wthout
much potential for comercial activity, although typically
they'd be open to mning, oil and gas activities, and so on.

CHAI R HUGGE NS asked: If it's being managed by DNR, why does it
matter whether it's in a forest?

M5. FREEMAN responded that, first, forestry is long term As

for neriting long-term investnent in the resources - forest
roads, reforestation, and so on - it is good to have sone
certainty that the land will remain in public ownership. Just

in the few years since these additions were proposed, 5,000
acres of the original proposal have gone into other uses.
Second, regardi ng managenent authority, the Division of Forestry
is the lead on areas in the state forest, whereas the D vision
of Mning, Land and Water is the lead on the areas outside;

while they work <closely together, it allows consistent
managenment for |ong-term tinber production and other uses. Also,
DNR tends to do nore investnent in state forest |ands,

particularly with respect to access.

M5. FREEMAN, in further response, said sone non-tinber forest
products cone out of that area. For instance, people collect
nmushroons and birch bark for commercial purposes. There aren't
a lot of mning clains in the state forest, although there has
been a benefit because the road to the Pogo M ne provides access
to both mning and forest resources.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -7- February 16, 2008



CHAI R HUGE NS asked whether the land status change w Il affect
t hose activities.

M5. FREEMAN answered no. The only controls on mneral entry are
in the experinmental forest. And there are some snmall research
natural areas open to mning, but this requires getting a |ease
first because there also is research going on. She added that a
quarter section of |and near Vol kmar Lake, part of the Vol kmar
Bluffs Research Natural Area, is primarily a prairie ecosystem
|argely grasses; this was identified because it is an unusual
ecosystem and of research interest, particularly in the face of
climate change as things get drier and warner. Al of that,
except for one quarter section, is already in the state forest;
DNR is just asking that the section outside the state forest be
added so it can be managed as a consol i dated parcel

11:27: 54 AM
CHAI R HUGGE NS i nqui red about experinental forests.

MS. FREEMAN replied there are two types: research natural areas
and experinmental forests. The forner typically are nanaged for
research on natural ecosystens without a |ot of manipulation.
For experinental forests, DNR does active applied managenent.
She indicated one area is probably the only boreal forest in the
US. set aside for long-term ecological research; sonme studies

have been going on 25 years. It has the full range of forest
types, including floodplain forests wth cottonwods, black
spruce forests on the north sides of hills, and productive
upland forests. She also indicated an area that is actively
managed, where applied research is done. As for canping, she
said state forests, i ncluding experinental forests, are
generally open to recreational uses. She surm sed there could

be areas closed for specific research sites, however

M5. FREEMAN, in response to Senator Stevens, showed another map
noting the main area of wuniversity lands to be transferred in

2055 is on Nenana Ridge; she nmentioned Bonanza Creek
Experimental Forest and an oval - shaped parcel. She said other
land in the Tok area was transferred to the university at the
time of the settlenent. Showing a larger-scale map, she

hi ghlighted Nenana Ridge, saying nost of the land in the
settlenment is already in the TVSF there; about 6,000 acres would
be added t hrough this proposal.

SENATOR STEVENS asked: When the transfer takes place in 2055

will t he TVSF have any connection or retain any
responsibilities?

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 8- February 16, 2008



M5. FREEMAN answered that wunder the legislation, it is to be
managed consistent wth the managenent plan for the TVSF. She
indicated DNR is instructed to work cooperatively, saying a
nmeeting is scheduled for next nonth between the university and
the division to start |ooking at |ong-term managenent planning
for this whol e area.

SENATOR WAGONER asked whether the Fairbanks North Star Borough
has selected all its |lands yet.

M5. FREEMAN offered to find out. Such selections are limted by
t he | and cl assifications, she not ed. The forestry
classification is one that isn't available for selection, and
these lands are nostly all classified for forestry.

11: 31: 34 AM

CHRI'S MAISCH, Director and State Forester, Division of Forestry,
Department of Natural Resources, stated support for SB 229 and
concurred with Ms. Freeman's testinony. Noting he'd |ooked at
the forest nmanagenent plan, he affirmed that tent canping is
allowed in the Bonanza Creek Experinmental Forest along wth
ot her recreational activities. He said the only prohibition is
t he devel opment of hard physical canpsites there.

MR. MAISCH also pointed out that the division has been deeply
involved in alternative energy projects, particularly biomass
projects using wod for heating and, potentially, electrical
generation; 83 feasibility studies have been done with a wood
energy taskforce involving communities throughout Alaska, many
in Interior comunities near state forests. One sensitive
feature 1is the distance to a sustainable wood source
Designating state |l ands as state forests provides sone assurance
to potential investors in such facilities. He noted a project
m ght be a school in Tok, Delta Junction, or dennallen

CHAIR HUGGE NS asked whether M. Miisch actively works in that
area and has been there in the last six nonths.

MR. MAISCH affirnmed that, saying he is based out of Fairbanks
and has had a 23-year career in the Interior, working for the
Tanana Chiefs Conference many years before working for the

state; he is famliar with all portions of the state forest. In
further response, M. Misch said he hadn't heard any | ocal
concerns expressed. He was involved in the original planning
process for this, on the citizens' advisory council and

participating in perhaps 100 neetings in communities as the plan

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 9- February 16, 2008



was updat ed. He said it was vetted aggressively at that tine,
and there was w de support.

CHAI R HUGA NS asked whether there is anything citizens m ght not
be aware of, but could have concerns about.

MR MAISCH replied the issues were addressed that had been
rai sed, and he couldn't think of others. Sone sensitive issues
about the Goodpasture River area had been dealt with already, in
the planning process. One research natural area is in that
wat ershed; that was vetted publicly, he said, and otherw se
there are no changes in that watershed.

11: 35: 44 AM

DAVI D JAMES, Interior Regional Supervisor, Division of Wldlife
Conservation, Alaska Departnment of Fish & Gane (ADR&G,
indicated DNR s Division of Forestry had coordinated wth ADF&G
closely, allowing him to solicit input from several staff
menbers about the Mnto Flats State Gane Refuge. He said ADF&G
had identified no known negative effects. He conveyed the
belief that this could provide additional access to the wetl ands
portion of the refuge via forestry roads, although a regulation
takes care of that; also, many post-logging practices can
benefit wldlife. Overall, he said, there were no concerns
about negative inpacts on wldlife or the purposes for which the
refuge was established by the |egislature.

MR JAMES, in response to Chair Huggins, expl ained that
AS 16.20.037 says the Mnto Flats State Gane Refuge was
established to ensure the protection and enhancenent of habitat;
to ensure conservation of fish and wildlife; and to guarantee
the continuation of hunting, fishing, trapping, and other uses
by the public conpatible with the protection and enhancenent of
habitat and the conservation of fish and wldlife.

CHAIR HUGE NS asked whether that has been successful from
ADF&G s perspecti ve.

MR. JAMES replied yes, in his opinion.

11: 38: 31 AM
SENATOR STEVENS noved to report SB 229 from commttee wth
i ndi vidual recomendations and attached fiscal notes. Ther e

being no objection, SB 229 was noved from the Senate Resources
Standing Comm ttee.

The commttee took an at-ease from 11:38:54 AMto 11:41: 37 AM

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 10- February 16, 2008



SB 237- MGMI' OF SUSTAI NABLE SALMON FI SHERI ES

CHAI R HUGGE NS announced SB 237 to be up for consideration

11:42: 07 AM

JODY SIMPSQN, Staff to Senator Charlie Huggins, Al aska State
Legi sl ature, presented SB 237 on behalf of the Senate Resources
Standing Comm ttee, sponsor. She said in 2001 the Al aska Board
of Fisheries (BOF) adopted the statew de Sustainable Salnon
Fi sheries Policy, which recognized that threats to sustainable
managenment exist and justify developing an explicit statew de
unbrella policy to help guide fishery nanagenent plans and
prograns; copies were available. Gven the inportance of sal non
in Alaska for consunptive use and commercial fishing, she said
it is vital to sustain sal non populations for future generations
by codifying this policy in statute.

M5. SIMPSON told nenbers the Al aska Departnent of Fish & Gane
(ADF&G) forecasts 5.6 mllion sockeye salnmon wll return to the
upper Cook Inlet in 2008; it forecasts 344,000 for the Susitna
River, 24 percent fewer than the 20-year average of 453, 000.
Based on Bendix sonar counts estimted since 1981, sockeye
escapenment into the Yentna R ver hasn't met the current
escapenent goals for five of the past eight years. However,
ADF&G recently expressed low confidence in these harvest
estimates, and there is uncertainty about the accuracy of Bendix
sonar counts. To her under st andi ng, weirs can allow
differentiating anmong sal non species, but sonar typically can't.

M5. SIMPSON reported this past nonth the BOF identified Susitna
sockeye as a stock of "yield concern”; a related docunent was in
packets. She said yield concern is defined in the Sustainable
Sal non Fisheries Policy as a concern arising from a chronic
[inability], despite the use of specific nanagenent neasures, to
mai ntain expected vyields or harvestable surpluses above a
stock's escapenent need. It is less severe than a nanagenent
concern, which is |less severe than a conservation concern.
Chronic inability is a continuing or anticipated inability to
neet escapenent thresholds over a four- to five-year period.

M5. SIMPSON said many of Senator Huggins' constituents and
sports fishing advocates in the Matanuska-Susitna area had hoped
the BOF woul d address their concerns and reduce commercial nets
to allow passage of nore salnon, nostly silvers bound for the
val l ey' s streans. | nstead, the board made snmall changes vi ewed
by many as favorable to commercial netters, including the

SENATE RES COW TTEE -11- February 16, 2008



addition of sonme |ate-season fishing tinme and a slight de-
enphasi s on w ndows.

M5. SIMPSON pointed out that conmittee packets contained
letters, resol utions, and e-mails i ndi cating hei ght ened
awar eness. She said sports fishernen also want the state to
focus on genetic sanpling of salnmon entering the inlet on their
return to the Mat-Su; this assessnment is ongoing, and the
departnment hopes the legislature wll appropriate another
$10 million for further studies. Drawing attention to support
for putting this policy into statute and highlighting the Mt-Su
situation, she also noted the Departnment of Law (DOL), ADF&G
and Board of Fisheries oppose putting this into statute; Lance
Nel son woul d speak to concerns and the fiscal note.

11:46: 51 AM
CHAIR HUGE NS inquired about the status of Fish Creek today
versus eight or ten years ago.

M5. SIMPSON responded that she wasn't a biologist or fish and
ganme statistician, but could provide anecdotal information from
living there 20 years. She said a lot of folks in the area
remenber years when the salnon yield was much higher and the
fish much | arger. Because of concern about the escapenent from
Fish Creek and Big Lake, sonme work is being done by the Cook
I nl et Aquaculture Association to |look at whether Big Lake is
anaerobic now at its deepest |evels.

CHAIR HUGGA NS recalled a personal dip net fishery there, which
no | onger exists.

M5. SI MPSON replied that was her understandi ng too.

11:48: 23 AM

LARRY EDFELT, Menber, Alaska Board of Fisheries, noted that
Board of Fisheries chairman Mel Morris had asked him to convey
again the board' s opposition to nmaking the Sustainable Salnon
Fisheries Policy statutory. The board feels it would reduce its
flexibility in responding to resource situations statew de, not
just at Cook Inlet.

MR. EDFELT said the policy took vyears to develop, wth

participation from diverse user groups all over Al aska. That
there is a policy is a testinony to how hard everyone worked to
create a policy that wuld result in sustainable salnon
fisheries, which was the comon goal. Wiile the BOF tried to

open the policy up for anmendnent a couple of tines, it met with

SENATE RES COW TTEE -12- February 16, 2008



passi onate opposition because people had worked so hard and
every word becane critical to sone user group or another.

MR. EDFELT pointed out that one reason the board opposes the
legislation is that the proposed statutory |anguage differs
slightly from what the board adopted, with a ot of "shalls" in
the statutory |anguage and "shoulds” in the board s policy. He
said DOL woul d present nore detail ed considerations.

11:50: 35 AM
CHAIR HUGE NS asked what it means that "yield concern" is |ess
severe than "managenent concern.”

MR. EDFELT deferred to DOL, noting the regulation is several
pages | ong.

CHAIR HUGA NS observed that it also states the latter is less
severe than "conservation concern." Saying friends and
nei ghbors are increasingly frustrated, he nentioned the Kenai
River and that a weir was proposed for deletion on the Deshka
River this year because of funding, wthout consultation wth
anyone he knows. Here there is talk about the lack of fish, he
said, the extinction of fish. Whatever it is called, Chair
Huggi ns suggested the actions and nunbers of fish are proof of
t he pudding. He asked M. Edfelt to comrent.

MR. EDFELT replied that certainly the board is interested in all
the research information it can get. It wasn't the decision of
the board to delete the Deshka weir; that was a policy decision
wi thin the departnent.

CHAI R HUGE NS asked whet her the board was consul t ed.

MR. EDFELT replied no. In defense of the departnent, he said
there is limted noney for fisheries managenent and research
activities throughout Al aska. The board and departnent

constantly cry for nore information, and it boils down to
funding. As for the Deshka River, he said he isn't sure that is
a termnal case. Salnmon runs are cyclical in Alaska, and
someti mes runs are down and then good.

MR. EDFELT, noting he's attended BOF neetings since 1966, said
over 40 years Alaskan salnon runs have gone up, and the runs
generally are healthy. Al though there are |ocal stocks of
concern, generally the flexibility given to the board and the
departnment to manage has, to his belief, caused the increased

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 13- February 16, 2008



returns over the last several decades. It's flexibility that is
i nportant, he enphasi zed.

SENATOR McGUI RE recalled that her famly had a fishing |lodge in
Bristol Bay for many years and simlar argunents would break
out; when commercial fishing boats were in, runs were down al ong
the river. She asked: Is the board requiring that the gear
affecting bycatch of salnon be inproved, or has that discussion
occurred? She gave her wunderstanding that there is inproved
gear to reduce bycatch for specific fisheries, but there also is
debate as to whether Al aska has inplenented such policies or
enforced themas well.

11:55: 26 AM

MR. EDFELT responded that the North Pacific Fisheries Managenent
Council (NPFMC) has jurisdiction over trawl fishery bycatch in
the Bering Sea. Although the BOF |lacks authority, it is highly
interested and wants |ower bycatch. In further response, he
opined there is little salnon bycatch in longline fisheries. As
for incidental catch of king salnbn when soneone targets
sockeye, he said the BOF has westled with that; it occurs in
nore than one area. Waile it has been suggested that changing
the nets could allow larger kings to break through, to date the
board hasn't adopted such neasures. Some research is required,
testing different types of nets to see what will retain sockeye
but not ki ng sal non.

SENATOR McGUI RE asked whet her |ack of noney for research hinders
putting such policies into place.

MR. EDFELT replied such a test fishery wouldn't be all that
expensive and could be done. However, sonetinmes what the board
wants isn't feasible within the departnent's budget. The BOF
doesn't have budgeting authority of its own.

11:58: 00 AM

SENATOR STEVENS highlighted the bill's title, surmsing that
opposition mght wongly be interpreted as being against
sust ai nabl e sal non fisheries. He asked M. Edfelt to address
reduced flexibility for the board statewide if this passes.

MR. EDFELT noted DOL would touch on this point as well. He said
anything that requires the board to take a certain view wl
[imt its flexibility. The Sustainable Salnon Fisheries Policy

is pages long, with things the board "should" [|ook at when
adopting regul ations. If those becone "shall,"” an unnecessary
level of conplexity wll be introduced. A Chigni k sal non

SENATE RES COW TTEE -14- February 16, 2008



fishery involving one gear type doesn't require a conplex policy
such as needed in Cook Inlet, for instance, where the desire is
to maximze 11 variables sinultaneously. Board regul ations
reflect those different types of conplexities.

CHAIR HUGA NS nentioned that the Yentna R ver and Susitna River
are in the heart of this area under discussion for fish. There
isn't a nobose season in that huge area, he told nenbers, since
there aren't any noose. Noting ADF&G al so nanages that, he said
Mat-Su residents are losing patience. The fish are
di sappearing, and the npose are alnobst extinct there. He
surmsed this relates to | ack of proactivity by ADF&G

12: 02: 42 PM

SENATOR WAGONER rel ated that he grew up in an area that once had
the world' s largest salnmon runs, the Colunbia-Snake River
system VWiile nore than one factor may reduce sal non runs, he
said one of the min things is nunbers of people and
encroachnment on sal non streans.

SENATOR WAGONER reported that he has taken $300,000 in the |ast
two years out of his discretionary capital funds and put it into
the districts of Senator Huggins and Senator Geen, into the
hands of the Cook Inlet Aquaculture Association in order to
study some systens and see what sone of the biological problens
are. He said there is just as nmuch concern at Cook Inlet with
respect to those returns. He agreed that sone is related to bad
counts; for instance, the aquaculture association determ ned
twice as nany spawners go back to sonme areas as ADF&G had
bel i eved.

SENATOR WAGONER told nmenbers this study is just a start of what
is needed for the Susitna River system There nust be a | ong-
termlegislative commtnent to funding to study the problem and
try to find a solution, if there is one. It mght relate to
water quality, predators, or any nunber of things. But he said
this legislation won't determ ne the problemor help it.

12:03:12 PM

SENATOR GREEN suggested ADF&G should be pushing those studies
and asking for funds, though she didn't know whether that had
happened in past years. She questioned why anyone's
di scretionary noney should have to fund those studies. |If ADF&G
needs information, she said, it should advocate for it.

SENATOR WAGONER agreed this should have happened |ong ago, but
said the department wasn't willing to step up. This information

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 15- February 16, 2008



gat hering needed to begin. He'd thought it was inportant enough
for his area and the Mat-Su, he said, noting the Cook Inlet
Aquacul ture Association enconpasses the whole Cook Inlet
dr ai nage including the Susitna. Inform ng nmenbers that he quit
commercial salnmon fishing two years ago, Senator Wagoner said
comercial Cook Inlet salnmon fishernen have been restricted by
the BOF since the early 1990s, but nobody in the departnent had
seemed to be seeking a solution. He suggested that is needed
rather than this type of |egislation.

12: 05: 04 PM

SENATOR GREEN offered that information brought to the departnent
which it hasn't requested won't have nearly as nmuch inpact,
si nce ADF&G bi ol ogi sts consider such information faulty.

SENATOR McGUI RE asked M. Edfelt for an exanple of where this

| egislation would hurt a fishery. She surmsed it could help
redefine activities and resources on the part of the departnent
and the board. |If there is a fiscal note attached, she said, it

is a clear direction fromthe legislature that this is where the
| egi sl ature wants sone resources to go.

MR. EDFELT replied that the fear is being inundated wth
|awsuits from not addressing every single "shall"” in the
| egi sl ati on when the BOF adopts a proposal.

CHAIR HUGGA NS read phrases in the bill related to habitat,
productivity, sustained yield, and so on, which he called
“not herhood and apple pie." He expressed concern about sone of

t he feedback. He nentioned fishing holes that he'd historically
flown over, deciding whether to land there, but said the fish
aren't there now. And soneone can't fish on a weekend using an
ai rpl ane because of the nunbers of people and |ack of fish. It
isn't just the Susitna R ver, he added; it's even where people
don't live.

12:08: 32 PM
TONY RUSS, Wasilla, representing hinself, noted he is a lifelong
Al askan who has fished the Kenai and the valley. There are

increasingly fewer fish, he said, though the Kenai has great
surges of fish and closures of a week or nore result in nore
silvers in the valley. He has been on the Matanuska Vall ey Fish
and Gane Advisory Committee for the last year, as well as the
mayor's blue ribbon sportsnen's commttee, attending neetings
and reading information; he attended BOF neetings two weeks ago.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 16- February 16, 2008



MR RUSS surmised part of the problem is that commercial
fishermen, with livelihoods at stake, go in force to neetings
and pay close attention to the nunbers. He said the BOF tries
hard and does a great job with this imense burden, but nmuch
work is done in subcommttees. As the only recreational user
listed at the recent neeting, he wondered if the board paid nore
attention to those with nore extensive know edge.

MR. RUSS indicated he'd worked for ADF&G s Division of
Commercial Fisheries sonme years ago and has a biology degree
He said reportedly there are 160,000 recreational users in upper

Cook Inlet, but sone 1,200 comercial permts. He said Cook
Inlet produces perhaps 2.5 percent of the statew de salnon
harvest, and 99 percent of the people that live in upper Cook

Inlet that fish there - the recreational users - get 20 percent.

MR. RUSS opined that the Division of Commercial Fisheries has
the goal of helping conmmercial fishernen, that sports fisheries
work with what is left over, and that the BOF is too biased

towards commercial fishing. He said putting the policy into
statute will force conpliance, perhaps even doing away with the
BOF, which works with the departnent. Expressing support for

SB 237, he said it would go a long way towards getting fish back
into the streans.

CHAIR HUGGE NS announced testinony would be |limted to three
m nutes to accommodate all testifiers.

12: 17: 46 PM

RI CKY GEASE, Executive Director, Kenai R ver Sport Fishing
Associ ation, stated support for the BOF having the following in
regul ati on: a mxed-stock policy, a wld trout policy, and a
sust ai nabl e sal non policy. At the last BOF neeting, he said

the board started making use of the sustainable sal non policy,
but there were a couple of interesting uses. For instance, the
policy references that the burden of conservation shall be
shared anongst user groups. |In terns of a yield concern for the
northern district, the departnment presented information that
75 percent of the production in that district has to do with the
relati ve nunbers of fish passing the Yentna weir.

MR. CGEASE said a lot is heard about beavers and pike, but
75 percent of the lack of fish there relates to lack of fish
passing the Yentna sonar; in sone ways, it relates to harvest in
the central commercial district. Instead of restricting drift
fishing in the central district and maintaining windows in the
set net fishery, where there are harvests of northern district

SENATE RES COW TTEE -17- February 16, 2008



fish, he said the BOF just renoved the burden of conservation
from the northern district comercial and sports fishermen by
saying there'd be no restrictions on either, thus renoving the
burden of conservation from everybody - which flies in the face
of precautionary managenent within the policy. Suggesting there
should be restrictions |ooked at for comrercial fishing in the
central district, he said the BOF deci ded agai nst that.

MR. CGEASE said things can be put into statute and regul ation,
but it still cones down to how people enact rules and
regul ati ons. He expressed dismay that at the |ast BOF neeting,
while a lot was heard about overescapenent into the Kenai and
Kasil of Rivers, there wasn't nuch attention to underescapenent

in the northern district. He suggested the policy being
di scussed could be useful in statute, although DOL woul d express
concer ns. He opined that it is "apple pie" at its heart,

sonmet hing the BOF and departnment need to pay attention to, which
he didn't believe happened adequately at the |ast board neeting.

12:21: 35 PM

BRUCE KNOWALES, representing hinmself, noted he'd served on boards
and on commttees with the BOF. As for a yield concern versus a
managenment concern, he explained that the fornmer is a first
step; if it fails, it proceeds to step two and step three, with
the latter neaning serious trouble. Thus he'd submtted
paperwork to have a yield concern; others requested included
Fish Creek - which had been at the managenent concern |evel but
was taken off, although it continues to mss its escapenent
goals - and a third, for chum salnon, for which he said the
departnent knows the harvest has dropped from 1.1 mllion to
| ess than 80,000 and yet it refuses to touch it.

MR. KNOWLES told nenbers a year ago in Cctober the Matanuska
Val | ey advisory commttee submtted proposals for agenda change
requests to the board, but it was turned down by the board at
the direction of DOL, which said "you don't have to take the
policies and work them on agenda change requests.” He feels
this has happened in nore than one area. Citing the stocking
program policy against damaging native runs, he said the Fish
Creek native run has been destroyed and the sane is happening
wi th other creeks around Cook Inlet.

MR. KNOWLES recalled that the board increased the size of nets
by about an inch, allowng nore king salnon harvest in the

central district. He said the departnment knows if proper
precautions are taken between July 1 and July 15-20, "we wl|
get our stocks to the northern district.” CGting restriction of

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 18- February 16, 2008



the drift fleet two years ago when the Kenai was having trouble
nmeeti ng escapenent goals, he said there are adequate runs this
year for coho and other species, although the escapenent goal
hasn't been net on the Yentna. He concluded that restricting
the fleet does has an effect.

MR. KNOWES suggested this legislation is needed to put people's
feet to the fire and renove personal judgnents. Recal | i ng at
the |l ast BOF neeting a conmercial fisherman said repeatedly that
he needed the sustainable salnon policy for Cook Inlet, M.
Know es said he was shocked to hear it. M. Know es spoke in
favor of a law that says a sustai nable salnon policy is needed,
in order to have integrity with respect to ADF& and its
managenent of Cook Inlet.

12:26: 00 PM

ROD ARNO, Executive Director, Alaska OQutdoor Council (AQCQ),
explained that AOC is a statew de organization of sone 10,000
hunters and fishers. Conveying AOC s support for SB 237, he
said the sustainability policy is "notherhood and apple pie"
that will result in conservation, protection of other uses, and
econony to the state. He surmsed it will be nuch clearer for
the public to understand than the policy or the handout prepared
by the BOF for its |last neeting.

MR. ARNO said he'd spent the last 15 years, from the start of
the intensive managenent |aw for gane, attending Board of Gane
meetings; wthout that |aw, which set population and harvest
obj ectives, he believes the state wouldn't have its active gane
managenent, which is starting to show positive effects. Wen it
was first introduced, he recalled, DOL and ADF&G opposed it,
concerned about its effect on the process; however, the
departnment has successfully defended it frominjunctions to stop
t he predator control program

MR. ARNO said the departnent, working with the adm nistration,
has legislation to nodify it again, the third tine in less than
a decade that amendnents have been proposed so the board and
departnment can function w thout disruption. He predicted the
sust ai nabl e salnmon fisheries policy would experience the sane
nmet anor phosi s.

12:29: 29 PM
VIRG L UWPHENOUR, Chairman, Fairbanks Fish and Gane Advisory
Committee, infornmed listeners that 12 of the 15 advisory

committee nenbers were present at the teleconference site.
M. Unphenour said he was one of the Board of Fisheries nenbers

SENATE RES COW TTEE -19- February 16, 2008



that wote the sustainable sal non policy. He'd been frustrated
about not having a definition of "sustained yield" and had
di scussed it with fellow BOF nenber Dr. John White; he nentioned
concern about commercial fishing interests in blue water.
M. Unphenour and Robin Sanuel son wote a two-page definition,
and then he and Dr. White discussed the need for a sustainable
policy that boards would have to foll ow

MR. UMPHENOUR recalled there were changes on the board and Dan
Coffey helped a |ot. After the BOF asked the departnent for
hel p from i ndependent scientists, half a dozen from the Western
U.S. helped over a year's tine. He indicated the board net in
Grdwod after the policy was witten and then took it
t hroughout Alaska to every board neeting, scheduling input,
hol di ng di scussions, formng a conrittee, and so on. Four years
were spent, and it finally went into regulation. No seated
board nenber that signed the recent resolution worked on the
sust ai nabl e salnon policy, he added, saying the neat of the
proposed statute is to change about four "shoulds" to "shalls."

MR. UMPHENOUR asserted that the board violated the sustainable
salnmon policy at its last neeting. The Yentna stock was a stock
of concern 12 years ago when he was on the board; it hasn't
changed. Then, he said, rather than addressing the problem the
board expanded an intercept fishery and let Cook Inlet drift
gillnetters fish on those stocks, as well as northern district
set netters. Calling this a flagrant violation, he stated his
belief that the policy needs to be in statute.

12: 33: 14 PM

M KE Tl NKER, Fai rbanks Fish and Gane Advisory Committee,
speaking in favor of SB 237, said there are lots of reasons to
codify the policy. Highlighting two resolutions from the
present Board of Fisheries, he said previous boards that
devel oped the policy realized the guidelines were desperately
needed for uniform regulation, for enphasis on fish stocks that
weren't doing well, and for allocation decisions. The present
board opposes SB 237, he said, "in ny opinion acting |like
di sgruntl ed teenagers rebelling against parental control."

MR. TINKER offered his belief that the assunptions in the BOF s
resolution are incorrect, although he agreed the policy was
fully and properly devel oped. He said statutory protection for
the policy would strengthen its effect on fisheries managenent,
since otherwise it could be repealed through a sinple board
vot e. Di sagreeing that codification of intensive mnagenent
(IM for wildlife caused |lawsuits, he said mnutiae demanded by

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 20- February 16, 2008



a frustrated ADF&G - placing details of the IM process into
Title 16 - caused the lawsuits. He suggested that a bill from
the admnistration to renmedy this problem shows the system is
wor ki ng, since a problemthat arises can be fixed.

MR. TINKER di sagreed wwth a statenment in the BOF resol ution that
there is no identified problem He proposed exam ning BOF
nmeeting records over several years, which he said show
conplaints from advisory commttees, the public, and subsistence

fi shernen. He nentioned unnet spawning escapenents and
international treaty obligations, as well as ignored stocks of
concerns and |ack of action for protections. Saying SB 237 is

needed for future generations, he added that the BOF needs to
stop conplaining and follow the policy, which he indicated wll
all ow the board to avoid getting sued.

12:36: 11 PM

HAL HUME, Fairbanks Fish and Game Advisory Conmittee, a nine-
year nmenber, concurred wth M. Urphenour and M. Tinker and
stated support for SB 237. He said this adds statutory strength
to the conmonsense approach of nanagenment for sustained yield of
Al aska's salnon fisheries. Citing a 12/2/05 BOF neeting in
Val dez, he sai d signi ficant t esti nony showed upstream
subsi stence wusers in villages have seen dramatically fewer
salmon in Copper River tributaries. Also, his famly has fished
the Gul kana River many years and noticed a significant reduction
in size and abundance of king salnon. Saying this mnust be
corrected for future generations, M. Hunme predicted SB 237 wl|
help significantly in protecting the salnon fishery.

MR HUVE opined that the current BOF has a bias towards
commerci al fishernen. Noting page 2, line 5, subparagraph (c)
of SB 237 says managenent "shall" be based on certain criteria,
he said this is essential to assure conpliance with principles
and criteria established over many years by conpetent board
menbers and others concerned with long-term sustainability of
Al aska's fisheries. He enphasi zed that Alaska's fish and gane
belong to all, not just the commercial industry. Estimating
there are over 15,000 wupstream users of the Copper R ver
dr ai nage al one, he said the BOF nust begin serving everyone.

12:38: 47 PM

DR JOHN WHI TE, Bethel, expressed his personal support for
SB 237, noting he is a long-tine comercial and sport user of
fisheries resources in that region and had been a BOF nenber for
seven years, serving as chair; during that tinme, t he
aforenmentioned policy began. He said having that policy in

SENATE RES COW TTEE -21- February 16, 2008



regul ation today allows the board and the public to understand
what is necessary for sal non resources and their conservation.

DR. WH TE agreed this cones down to "should" or "shall." He
suggested the issue is whether the |egislature chooses to create
a firewall - that the board shall do things to conserve stocks,

providing a clear record for the public and the legislature. He
surm sed such a firewall would prevent board action and ongoing
managenent actions by ADF&G that create "train wecks" regarding
sal non resource conservation. "Should" allows the board to | ook
the other way, he said, which only the |egislature can prevent.
Ref erencing testinmony from Fairbanks and the Matanuska-Susitna
regions, he surmsed people from the Arctic-Yukon-Kuskokw m
(AYK) region also would say they'd witnessed such train w ecks.

DR VWH TE expressed <concern that budgetary issues affect
research and that there won't be information for the board to

act on in the future. He also encouraged the conmittee to
ensure that the bill, if it passes, includes the definitions
sections fromthe regulations, 5 AAC 39.222. He said the devi
isin the details, and the bill lacks clarity in this respect.

CHAIR HUGA NS asked how |ong "should" has been the operative
term

DR. WHI TE answered fromday one in this policy.

12:44: 22 PM

REUBEN HANKE, Kenai River Sport Fishing Association, stated
support for SB 237 and lauded Dr. Wiite's testinony. He
recalled the |Iast BOF neeting, saying the board did only half of
what was needed: starting to look at research needs in the
northern district, but failing to come up with a nanagenent
pl an. As a result, as M. Unphenour had nentioned, there is

extended fishing tinme on fish headed for the northern district,
as well as extended tine in the central district, to the mddle
of the nonth; thus M. Hanke said he wonders how long it will be
until there is a concern for those coho sal nobn as well.

12: 46: 02 PM

LANCE NELSON, Senior Assistant Attorney General, Nat ur al
Resources Section, Cvil D vision (Anchorage), Department of
Law, spoke in opposition to SB 237. | nvol ved with BOF work for

al nost 20 years, on both the regulatory side and the enforcenent
side, M. Nelson specified that he was speaking on behalf of
DOL; while he would express concerns of the board and ADF&G
others such as M. Edfelt could speak for thensel ves.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -22- February 16, 2008



MR. NELSON said while believing the bill is well intentioned,
DOL has serious concerns about its |anguage and effect on the
regul atory process for the BOF and ADF&G in Al aska. He pointed
out that there was an effort to renove the aforenentioned policy
fromregulation |last year and just put it into policy; that got
no support from the BOF. He indicated the board is trying to
ensure closer conpliance with the standards it set for itself,
with renewed enphasis on criteria and standards in the policy.

MR. NELSON highlighted testinony that the operative word in the
policy is "should." He told nenbers there are lots of "shalls"
and "wills" in that policy. Indicating DOL created a summary
for the board and public to wuse in addressing the policy
criteria during the board process, he said two pages of
standards and criteria are prefaced by the mandatory "shall"
| anguage in the regulation itself.

MR. NELSON said one problemis that nost of the concern focuses
on a few areas, but the statute would apply statewide; it could
present real challenges for the BOF in regulating the state's

fisheries. Also, the bill sets difficult or perhaps inpossible
standards and wll Jlikely result in unexpected consequences.
For instance, paragraph (a)(1l) references a conprehensive

policy. He asked whether that nmeans every regulatory plan nust
be conprehensive, an unrealistic standard for nany stocks
t hroughout Al aska, based on the anpbunt of information DOL has
and the amount of interest in sone of those stocks.

MR. NELSON addressed paragraph (a)(2), saying alnost all plans
are designed to achieve maxi mum or optinmm sal non production.
The BOF would have to supply affirmative data on each of the
listed criteria and formally consider all criteria, regardless
of whether each was an inportant factor in the particular

pr oposal before the board. In such cases, he said,
consideration would tend to be a formal, rote recitation of the
criteria, without translating into better, nore informed
deci si ons. However, failure to expressly address any of the
criteria could result in successful I|egal challenges against

board regul ati ons.

12:50: 11 PM

MR. NELSON noted a mmjor concern relates to subsection (b) of
the bill. He said DOL believes the phrase "nust ensure" sets an
i npossi ble standard for salnon managenent. "Ensure" neans to
guarantee a result; this is inpossible given how salnon return
and the state's |limted ability to control their life cycle.

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 23- February 16, 2008



And al though the BOF has limted control over the marine habitat
of salmobn and no power to guarantee the sustained econonic
health of Al aska, he said subsection (b) requires regulations to
do t hose things.

MR. NELSON turned to paragraph (c)(1l), saying even the sustained
yield provisions of Alaska's constitution don't nandate that
sal non stocks be nmamintained to ensure sustained yields. The
constitutional provisions say fish shall be utilized, devel oped,
and maintained on the sustained yield principle, subject to

preferences anong beneficial uses. That | anguage has been
interpreted with flexibility in light of the record of the
Constitutional Convention, he said, which states, in pertinent

part, the follow ng:

As to forests, tinber volume, rate of growth, and
acreage of tinber type can be determned with sone
degree of accuracy. For fish, for wildlife, and for
sonme ot her repl eni shable resources ..., it IS
difficult or even inpossible to neasure accurately the
factors by which a cal cul ated sustained yield could be
det er m ned. Yet the term "sustained yield principle"
is used in connection with the managenent of such

resour ces. Wen so wused it denotes conscious
application insofar as practicable of principles of
managenent intended to sustain the vyield of the
resource being nmanaged. That broad neaning is the

meani ng of the termas used in the Article.

MR. NELSON noted the Alaska Suprene Court recognized, 1in
el aborating on the flexibility for sustained yield, that "the
primary enphasis of the framers' discussions and the glossary's
definitions of sustained yield is on the flexibility of the
sustained vyield requirement and its status as a qguiding
principle rather than a concrete, predefined process.” On the
ot her hand, he said, the bill's |anguage inposes a standard of
strict guarantees that DOL believes the board won't be able to
use i n many instances.

12:52: 22 PM

MR. NELSON alluded to paragraph (c)(2), saying the directive
"shall be managed to allow escapenent wi thin ranges necessary to
conserve and sustain wild salnmon production and naintain norna

ecosystem functioning” is problematic. There are variables in
sal non managenent. The Al aska Suprene Court recognized - in the
Native village of Elim case as well - that the board has to

consider weather, natural predators, conpetition wth other

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 24- February 16, 2008



fish, international fishing efforts, water pollution, inproved
efficiency of fleets and fishing nethods, and that several
di fferent species of salnon travel through one fishery, creating
a m xed stock that increases managenent chall enges.

MR. NELSON al so pointed out that salnon have a fluctuating cycle
that nmakes estimating returns from year to year difficult, even
under the best conditions. Hence, he said, DOL believes using
mandatory terns like "shall" and "ensure" in a sal non managenent
statute sets up wunrealistic expectations and invites |[egal
chal | enges, which are nmuch nore likely to be successful wth
such nmandat ory | anguage.

MR. NELSON opined that paragraph (c)(4) could be interpreted to
require the board to shut down any m xed-stock fishery that
involves take of a depleted salnobn stock, regardless of
consequences to other fisheries or other escapenent objectives.

Thus a relatively low rate of interception of a depleted stock

could result in closing a fishery, causing significant
over escapenent and possibly harm ng production of another stock,
even while providing little benefit to the depleted stock.

Failure to define "depleted" and "actively restored" also raises
| egal concerns, he told nenbers.

CHAIR HUGEA NS requested that M. Nelson provide his coments on
specific concerns in witing.

MR. NELSON agreed, indicating he'd sent comments to the chair's
of fice. He sunmarized by saying the problem with the bill is
that while it is well intentioned, it sets inpossible standards
and won't give the results people expect. Just setting criteria
doesn' t mean BOF nmenbers will view certain fisheries
differently, with nore enphasis. He said the board process is
very useful and, in his mnd, effective - gathering information
frominterested parties and conming up with reasonabl e deci si ons.

MR. NELSON pointed out that over the years, board nenbers view
things differently and nake adjustnments. He also said the whole
story from the last board neeting wasn't heard today; nore can
be found in the record than just dissatisfaction with BCF
actions. He concluded by saying he believes a conprehensive
policy like this will cause nore danage to the process than it
will helpit.

12: 56: 08 PM
SENATOR GREEN asked if this is based on current regulations that
are in policy.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 25- February 16, 2008



AN UNI DENTI FI ED SPEAKER replied yes, for the nost part.

SENATOR GREEN said she needed to see a copy of the regulations
to see where they' ve been nerged and changed.

12:56: 41 PM

CHAIR HUGA NS said intensive managenent is being done for gane,
and there is legislation at the request of the admnistration
He asked M. Nel son whether he was famliar with that.

MR. NELSON answered that he was generally aware of it, but
didn't work on the gane side.

CHAIR HUGE NS asked M. Nelson to adopt that philosophy and
bring sonme solutions. He noted solutions proposed in the
current bill were brought forward by constituents and others to
try to solve what some perceive as a problem

MR. NELSON replied that to the extent the attorney general,
comm ssi oner of ADF&G and BOF would authorize himto do that on
their behalf, he'd certainly do so.

CHAIR HUGA NS said he'd like M. Nelson to do it on behal f of
Al askans, who pay his paycheck.

12:58: 26 PM

SENATOR STEVENS opined that M. Nelson's cautions were highly
important, talking about unexpected consequences, unrealistic
expectations, and that it could cause nore danmage than it would
hel p. As to whether he could actually bring solutions, Senator
Stevens said that's another issue. Recalling that M. Edfelt
said this legislation, if passed, would reduce the board' s
flexibility because it would apply statew de, Senator Stevens
asked whet her that was M. Nelson's conclusion as well.

MR. NELSON affirmed that. As an illustration, he said Cook
Inlet has a small pink salnmon run in a particular stream G ven
decreased interest in pinks conpared with sockeye, kings, and
silvers in other areas of Cook Inlet, is the information
avai l able to guarantee proper escapenent, sustained yield, and
diversity for that particular run? He said probably not. | f
the board nust take nandatory actions, how wll that inpact
sockeye fisheries, coho salnon, and other stocks in other
pl aces? |f anyone pushes that issue and sues over it - people
opposed to fishing in general because of concerns about Beluga

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 26- February 16, 2008



whal es, for exanple - what corner will the board be boxed into?
He said that concerns him

SENATOR STEVENS reiterated how inportant he believed it was to
listen to M. Nelson, saying he |ooked forward to his witten
comments and hearing nore fromhimin the future.

CHAIR HUGGA NS stated the intention of having M. Nelson testify
in person if possible, but said he was | ooking for sol utions.

1:01:17 PM

Bl LL LARRY, Fairbanks Fish and Ganme Advisory Conmittee, stated
support for SB 237. He said there are many sport fishernen, and
this has been totally controlled by commercial fishernen, which
nmust stop. He surm sed passing the bill would be the best
t hi ng. He said the ADF&G folks are paid by Al askans, and he
believes they need to "get out and start doing sone work."

1:02:41 PM
BYRON  HALEY, Presi dent, Chitina Di pnetters Associ ati on,
Fai r banks, voiced support for SB 237. He said at the |ast

annual neeting of the AOC and the Alaska Fish and Wldlife
Conservation Fund in Anchorage, February 8-10, M. Unphenour,
M. Edfelt, and Dr. Wite presented this and there was a vote to
support this issue. On behalf of the Chitina Dipnetters
Association, M. Haley said, he' d voted to support it strongly.

CHAI R HUGGE NS asked whet her anyone el se on tel econference w shed
to testify; there was no response.

1:04:27 PM

JERRY McCUNE, United Fishermen of Al aska (UFA), told nenbers he
hadn't planned to testify, but wanted to respond to today's
t esti nony. He said UFA is the biggest statewi de conmerci al
fishing organization and opposes SB 237 for the reasons stated
by M. Nelson. Specifying that this isn't opposition to
sust ai nabl e fisheries, M. MCune voiced support for any studies
that come up with results. The UFA doesn't want stocks of
concern anywhere, he said, whether the Mat-Su or Bristol Bay.
That isn't good for anyone including conmercial fishernen,
sports fishernmen, guides, or those who fish for personal use.

MR MCUNE noted he'd listened to public testinmony at the BOF
nmeeting for two days; both sides can get a little testy. He
said he doesn't begrudge a guide or anyone else making a |iving.
Commercial fishernmen are trying to do just that, and those
fishing for personal use are trying to take fish hone for food.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -27- February 16, 2008



He spoke in support of trying to get funding for the Mat-Su that
will give results, but not studies for their own sake

MR. McCUNE di scussed the fragility of |ake systens with sockeye,
citing Coghill Lake, where escapenent collapsed after too many
fish were added and it took years of work to fix it. He al so
gave his understanding that WMt-Su |akes aren't producing big
enough smolts, which may require feed or another solution. He
said all fishing interests should sit down together to ensure
there are no stocks of concern, no matter where. He suggested
getting ADF&G on top of this, with studies that give results, to
make those systens nore productive for all users.

SENATOR GREEN asked if this was simlar to the conversation
during the Fairness in Sal non Harvest (F.1.S.H) Initiative.

MR. MCUNE |aughed and said it probably was; he offered
recol | ections about that tine. Returning to SB 237, he said
commercial fishernmen want to stay in business and al so keep the
stocks healthy; he cited personal exanples, saying of course
commercial fishing should be cut back if there is any problemin
neeting escapenent goals. Wiile nost fishermen aren't happy
about it, he added, they know it's best for the resource.

MR. MCune agreed with M. Nelson that this bill wll tie the
hands of the BOF and ADF&G  For exanple, if one stream has only
50 fish returning whereas another has a mllion, the bil
requires shutting down the whole area. Saying the BOF policy
has worked pretty well and is used by the board a |lot, and that
there are unhappy parties on both sides of the issue, M. MCune
expressed wllingness to help wth respect to the Mit-Su and
ensuring there are no stocks of concern in Al aska.

CHAIR HUGGE NS spoke about recent good fishing at Coghill Lake
but also highlighted the need to correct the situation in upper
Cook Inlet. He held SB 237 over.

There being no further business to conme before the commttee
Chair Huggi ns adjourned the Senate Resources Standing Conmttee
neeting at 1:12:13 PM

SENATE RES COWM TTEE - 28- February 16, 2008



